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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT EASTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
 UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ex rel. §IVEY WOODARD, §
 §Plaintiff/Relator, §
 §versus §§ CIVIL ACTION NO. 1:05-CV-227
 §§DAVITA, INC., §
 §Defendant. §
 MEMORANDUM AND ORDER
 Pending before the court is Defendant DaVita, Inc.’s (“DaVita”) Motion to Dismiss
 Relator’s Fourth Amended Complaint and Supporting Memorandum (#117), wherein DaVita seeks
 dismissal of Relator Ivey Woodard’s (“Woodard”) claims pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil
 Procedure 9(b) and 12(b)(6). Having reviewed the pending motion, the submissions of the parties,
 the pleadings, and the applicable law, the court is of the opinion that DaVita’s motion should be
 granted in part.
 I. Background
 DaVita is one of the nation’s largest providers of dialysis services. This False Claims Act
 (“FCA”) case arises from DaVita’s use of Epogen (“EPO”), a drug designed to stimulate the
 production of red blood cells in anemic patients with end stage renal disease. Woodard is a former
 employee of EPO’s manufacturer, Amgen, Inc. (“Amgen”), who worked for the company in
 various capacities from 1990 to 2001. Woodard claims that, during the course of his employment,
 Case 1:05-cv-00227-MAC Document 137 Filed 05/09/11 Page 1 of 30
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Overfill is an extra quantity of EPO included in each vial of the drug. Federal law requires the1
 inclusion of EPO overfill to ensure providers are able to administer a full dose to patients.
 2
 he discovered that DaVita improperly administered EPO overfill to patients and then fraudulently1
 sought reimbursement from the government for its misuse of the drug.
 On April 25, 2002, Woodard initiated a qui tam suit against Amgen and John Does 1-20
 (“the Amgen Action”). On November 25, 2002, Woodard filed his First Amended Complaint,
 adding DaVita, Gambro Healthcare Inc. (“Gambro”), and Fresenius Medical Care (“Fresenius”)
 as defendants. On November 4, 2004, after conducting its own investigation, the United States
 declined to intervene in the Amgen Action. Accordingly, the court ordered that Woodard’s First
 Amended Complaint be unsealed and served upon the defendants. Thereafter, Woodard dismissed
 his claims against Amgen and Gambro.
 On March 3, 2005, Woodard filed a Second Amended Complaint with expanded claims
 against DaVita and Fresenius. Soon after, on March 22, 2005, the court severed the pending
 claims from those asserted against the dismissed defendants and opened the present case.
 Woodard’s Second Amended Complaint remained under seal until July 6, 2009, when the United
 States failed to intervene by the court-imposed deadline.
 In January 2010, Woodard dismissed his claims against Fresenius and filed a Third
 Amended Complaint with new allegations against DaVita. DaVita moved to dismiss Woodard’s
 claims on March 5, 2010, arguing that Woodard failed to satisfy the pleading requirements of Rule
 9(b) and the filing provisions of the FCA. On October 14, 2010, the court granted DaVita’s
 Case 1:05-cv-00227-MAC Document 137 Filed 05/09/11 Page 2 of 30
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The court also dismissed certain of Woodard’s claims pursuant to the FCA’s filing provisions and2
 statute of limitations. Because those claims were dismissed with prejudice, they are not relevant to thepending motion.
 3
 motion in part and dismissed Woodard’s overfill and kickback claims without prejudice on the
 basis of pleading deficiencies. 2
 On December 1, 2010, Woodard filed a Fourth Amended Complaint (“the complaint”)
 reasserting his overfill and kickback claims, as well as those claims that previously survived
 dismissal. Specifically, Woodard alleges that DaVita: (1) fraudulently sought government
 reimbursement for “free” EPA overfill (“count one”); (2) administered medically unnecessary
 levels of EPO to patients (“count two”); (3) accepted kickbacks from Amgen in the form of
 overfill, drug discounts and rebates, free employee training, and educational grants (“count
 three”); and (4) submitted false cost reports to the Health Care Finance Administration (“HCFA”)
 (“count four”).
 On December 21, 2010, DaVita filed the instant motion, seeking to dismiss counts one,
 three, and four of Woodard’s complaint with prejudice. DaVita argues that Woodard’s repleaded
 overfill and kickback claims still lack the factual specificity required by Rule 9(b). Additionally,
 DaVita maintains that Woodard’s kickback allegations are legally infirm because they fail to allege
 the required elements of an express certification claim.
 II. Analysis
 A. FCA
 “The FCA generally permits the Government or a party suing on the Government’s behalf
 to recover for false claims made by the defendants to secure payment by the Government.” United
 States ex rel. Doe v. Dow Chem. Co., 343 F.3d 325, 329 (5th Cir. 2003). The FCA is a statutory
 Case 1:05-cv-00227-MAC Document 137 Filed 05/09/11 Page 3 of 30
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4
 cause of action intended to combat fraud against the government. United States ex rel. Longhi v.
 Lithium Power Techs., Inc., 530 F. Supp. 2d 888, 891 (S.D. Tex. 2008). The statute imposes
 liability on any person who:
 (1) knowingly presents, or causes to be presented, to an officer or employee of theUnited States Government . . . a false or fraudulent claim for payment or approval;
 (2) knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a false record orstatement to get a false or fraudulent claim paid or approved by the Government.
 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1), (2). The test for FCA civil liability is: (1) “whether ‘there was a false
 or fraudulent course of conduct; (2) made or carried out with the requisite scienter; (3) that was
 material; and (4) that caused the government to pay out money or to forfeit moneys due.’” United
 States ex rel. Longhi v. Lithium Power Techs., Inc., 575 F.3d 458, 467 (5th Cir. 2009), cert.
 denied, 130 S. Ct. 2092 (2010) (quoting United States ex rel. Wilson v. Kellogg Brown & Root,
 Inc., 525 F.3d 370, 376 (4th Cir. 2008)).
 The FCA requires that a defendant “knowingly” make false claims for payment to the
 government. 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a). “To state a claim under the FCA, subsection (a)(1), a relator
 must allege that the defendant ‘knowingly’ made a ‘false or fraudulent claim’ to the United States
 Government.” United States ex rel. Riley v. St. Luke’s Episcopal Hosp., 355 F.3d 370, 376 (5th
 Cir. 2004) (quoting 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)). “To state a claim under subsection (a)(2), the
 relator must allege the defendant ‘knowingly’ made or used a ‘false record or statement to get a
 false or fraudulent claim’ paid by the Government.” Id. (quoting 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(2)). While
 “the FCA is plain that ‘proof of specific intent to defraud’ is not necessary . . . [the] mens rea
 requirement is not met by mere negligence or even gross negligence.” United States ex rel.
 Farmer v. City of Houston, 523 F.3d 333, 338 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 129 S. Ct. 570 (2008)
 Case 1:05-cv-00227-MAC Document 137 Filed 05/09/11 Page 4 of 30
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5
 (quoting 31 U.S.C. § 3729(b)); accord Longhi, 575 F.3d at 468. “Indeed, ‘it is a long-established
 rule of [the Fifth Circuit] that to show a violation of the FCA, the evidence must demonstrate
 “guilty knowledge of a purpose on the part of the defendant to cheat the government.”’ United
 States ex rel. Taylor-Vick v. Smith, 513 F.3d 228, 231 (5th Cir. 2008) (citing United States v.
 Aerodex, Inc., 469 F.2d 1003, 1007 (5th Cir. 1972) (quoting United States v. Priola, 272 F.2d
 589, 594 (5th Cir. 1959))). Accordingly, Woodard must demonstrate that DaVita (1) had “actual
 knowledge of falsity, (2) acted with deliberate ignorance of the truth or falsity of the information
 provided, or (3) acted with reckless disregard of the truth or falsity of the information provided”
 to the government. Longhi, 575 F.3d at 468; Farmer, 523 F.3d at 339. Although the intent
 element of the FCA may be alleged generally, “simple allegations that defendants possess
 fraudulent intent will not satisfy Rule 9(b).” Dorsey v. Portfolio Equities, Inc., 540 F.3d 333, 339
 (5th Cir. 2008) (quoting Melder v. Morris, 27 F.3d 1097, 1102 (5th Cir. 1994)).
 B. Rule 9(b) Standard
 “Claims brought under the FCA must comply with Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 9(b),
 which requires pleading with particularity in cases alleging fraud.” Doe, 343 F.3d at 328 (citing
 United States ex rel. Thompson v. Columbia/HCA Healthcare Corp., 125 F.3d 899, 903 (5th Cir.
 1997)) (“Thompson I”); accord United States ex rel. Grubbs v. Kanneganti, 565 F.3d 180, 185
 (5th Cir 2009); United States ex rel. Rafizadeh v. Cont’l Common, Inc., 553 F.3d 869, 873 (5th
 Cir. 2008); United States ex rel. Willard v. Humana Health Plan of Tex., 336 F.3d 375, 384 (5th Cir.
 2003). Specifically, Rule 9(b) states:
 In alleging fraud or mistake, a party must state with particularity the circumstancesconstituting fraud or mistake. Malice, intent, knowledge, and other conditions ofa person’s mind may be alleged generally.
 Case 1:05-cv-00227-MAC Document 137 Filed 05/09/11 Page 5 of 30
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6
 FED. R. CIV. P. 9(b); see Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd., 551 U.S. 308, 319 (2007);
 Dorsey, 540 F.3d at 339; Ferrer v. Chevron Corp., 484 F.3d 776, 779 n.7 (5th Cir. 2007).
 Therefore, instead of the “short and plain statement of the claim” required by Rule 8(a) of the
 Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 9(b) imposes a heightened standard of pleading for
 averments of fraud. See FED. R. CIV. P. 8(a), 9(b); Grubbs, 565 F.3d at 185; Rafizadeh, 553
 F.3d at 872-73; Dorsey, 540 F.3d at 338-39; ABC Arbitrage Plaintiffs Grp. v. Tchuruk, 291 F.3d
 336, 349 (5th Cir. 2002).
 The Fifth Circuit applies Rule 9(b) to fraud complaints “with ‘bite’ and ‘without apology’”
 but also recognizes that Rule 9(b) “supplements but does not supplant Rule 8(a)’s notice pleading.”
 Grubbs, 565 F.3d at 185 (quoting Williams v. WMX Techs., Inc., 112 F.3d 175, 178 (5th Cir.
 1997)). Therefore, Rule 9(b) “requires only simple, concise, and direct allegations of the
 ‘circumstances constituting fraud,’ which after [Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 563
 (2007)] must make relief plausible, not merely conceivable, when taken as true.” Grubbs, 565
 F.3d at 186. Generally, this means the plaintiff must “‘specify the statements contended to be
 fraudulent, identify the speaker, state when and where the statements were made, and explain why
 the statements were fraudulent.’” Flaherty & Crumrine Preferred Income Fund, Inc. v. TXU
 Corp., 565 F.3d 200, 207 (5th Cir. 2009), cert. denied, 130 S. Ct. 199 (2009) (quoting Williams,
 112 F.3d at 177; accord Grubbs, 565 F.3d at 186; Dorsey, 540 F.3d at 339; Cent. Laborers’
 Pension Fund v. Integrated Elec. Servs. Inc., 497 F.3d 546, 550 (5th Cir. 2007). The
 particularity demanded by Rule 9(b), however, necessarily differs with the facts of each case.
 Grubbs, 565 F.3d at 188; Tuchman v. DSC Commc’n Corp., 14 F.3d 1061, 1067 (5th Cir. 1994)
 (citing Guidry v. Bank of LaPlace, 954 F.2d 278, 288 (5th Cir. 1992)). Nonetheless, “Rule 9(b)
 Case 1:05-cv-00227-MAC Document 137 Filed 05/09/11 Page 6 of 30
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7
 requires the ‘who, what, when, where, and how’ to be laid out.” Shandong Yinguang Chem.
 Indus. Joint Stock Co., Ltd., 607 F.3d at 1032. “Anything less fails to provide defendants with
 adequate notice of the nature and grounds of the claim.” Hart v. Bayer Corp., 199 F.3d 239, 248
 n.6 (5th Cir. 2000); accord Williams, 112 F.3d at 178 (citing Tuchman, 14 F.3d at 1067).
 In the context of the FCA, however, the Fifth Circuit has recognized that the “who, what,
 when, where, and how” of the alleged fraud is “not a straitjacket for Rule 9(b).” Grubbs, 565
 F.3d at 190. Rather, the rule must remain flexible to achieve the “remedial purpose” of the FCA.
 Id. Therefore, if a relator’s complaint cannot allege the details of an actual false claim, it may
 nonetheless survive by “alleging particular details of a scheme to submit false claims paired with
 reliable indicia that lead to a strong inference that claims were actually submitted.” Id. While a
 plaintiff must still plead the circumstances constituting fraud with particularity, pleading the
 specific details of individual false claims is unnecessary. Wagemann v. Doctor’s Hosp. of Slidell,
 LLC, No. 09-3506, 2010 WL 3168087, at *4 (E.D. La. Aug. 6, 2010) (citing Grubbs, 565 F.3d
 at 190). “In other words, should a plaintiff allege a general scheme to defraud the Government,
 when the scheme occurred, those involved, its mechanics, an explanation of how the claims were
 false, and a description of the billing system, the ‘time, place, contents, and identity’ standard is
 met.” Id. at *4 (citing Grubbs, 565 F.3d at 190-91). Nonetheless, this standard “is not meant
 to encourage the use of merely suggestive or conclusory allegations.” Id. To the contrary, “the
 Rule 9(b) standard requires ‘specificity as to the statements (or omissions) considered to be
 fraudulent, the speaker, when and why the statements were made, and an explanation of why they
 were fraudulent.’” United States ex rel. Dekort v. Integrated Coast Guard Sys., 705 F. Supp. 2d
 519, 530 (N.D. Tex. 2010) (quoting Plotkin v. IP Axess, Inc., 407 F.3d 690, 696 (5th Cir. 2005));
 Case 1:05-cv-00227-MAC Document 137 Filed 05/09/11 Page 7 of 30
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8
 see also Southland Secs. Corp. v. INSpire Ins. Solutions, Inc., 365 F.3d 353, 362 (5th Cir. 2004).
 Furthermore, when the facts relating to the alleged fraud are “peculiarly within the perpetrator’s
 knowledge,” the pleading requirements of Rule 9(b) may be relaxed to allow the plaintiff to plead
 on information and belief, provided the complaint sets forth a factual basis for such belief.
 Thompson I, 125 F.3d at 903. This exception, however, should not “be mistaken for license to
 base claims of fraud on speculation and conclusory allegations.” Id.
 Under Fifth Circuit precedent, a dismissal for failure to plead fraud with particularity is
 treated as a dismissal for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted under Rule
 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. See Shandong Yinguang Chem. Indus. Joint
 Stock Co., Ltd., 607 F.3d at 1032; Flaherty & Crumrine Preferred Income Fund, Inc., 565 F.3d
 at 206; Motient Corp. v. Dondero, 529 F.3d 532, 535 (5th Cir. 2008); Southland Secs. Corp., 356
 F.3d at 361. When evaluating a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, “courts must limit
 their inquiry to the facts stated in the complaint and the documents either attached to or
 incorporated in the complaint.” Lovelace v. Software Spectrum Inc., 78 F.3d 1015, 1017 (5th Cir.
 1996); see Lone Star Fund V (U.S.), L.P. v. Barclays Bank PLC, 594 F.3d 383, 387 (5th Cir.
 2010); Rafizadeh, 553 F.3d at 872 n.2. To avoid dismissal, the complaint must contain facts
 showing that the plaintiff is entitled to relief on his substantive causes of action. See Twombly,
 550 U.S. at 563; McClain v. Real Estate Bd. of New Orleans, Inc., 444 U.S. 232, 246 (1980);
 Frank v. Delta Airlines, Inc., 314 F.3d 195, 197 (5th Cir. 2002). Following the Supreme Court’s
 decision in Twombly, the accepted pleading standard is “once a claim has been stated adequately,
 it may be supported by showing any set of facts consistent with the allegations in the complaint.”
 550 U.S. at 563 (citing Sanjuan v. Am. Bd. of Psychiatry & Neurology, Inc., 40 F.3d 247, 251
 Case 1:05-cv-00227-MAC Document 137 Filed 05/09/11 Page 8 of 30
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The court rejects DaVita’s assertion that Woodard’s allegations regarding the capture, pooling,3
 and administration of EPO overfill should be assessed separately. Woodard’s overfill claim alleges thatDavita employed a scheme to capture, pool, and administer overfill and that the combination of all threeprocesses resulted in the submission of false claims.
 9
 (7th Cir. 1994), cert. denied, 516 U.S. 1159 (1996)); City of Dallas v. Hall, 562 F.3d 712, 717
 (5th Cir. 2009). Nonetheless, the plaintiff must plead specific facts, not mere conclusory
 allegations, to prevent dismissal. See Ackerson v. Bean Dredging LLC, 589 F.3d 196, 209 (5th
 Cir. 2009); Hall, 562 F.3d at 717; Kane Enters. v. MacGregor (USA) Inc., 322 F.3d 371, 374
 (5th Cir. 2003) (citing Collins v. Morgan Stanley Dean Witter, 224 F.3d 496, 498 (5th Cir.
 2000)).
 C. Count One: Overfill Allegations
 Count one alleges that DaVita submitted false claims to Medicare based on its charges for
 captured overfill. Specifically, Woodard contends that DaVita extracted overfill from single-dose
 EPO vials, pooled these amounts to form additional doses, and then fraudulently billed the
 government for its administration of the “free” doses as if it had paid for them in full. DaVita3
 seeks dismissal of this claim on the ground that it lacks the factual specificity required by Rule
 9(b). DaVita also asserts that the practice of extracting and administering overfill was permitted
 by the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (“CMS”) during the time in question and,
 therefore, Woodard fails to allege that it knowingly violated any explicit laws when submitting its
 claims for repayment.
 1. Factual Sufficiency
 An examination of count one reveals that Woodard’s overfill claim is supported by sufficient
 facts to survive a Rule 9(b) challenge. Woodard alleges that Amgen sales representatives and
 Case 1:05-cv-00227-MAC Document 137 Filed 05/09/11 Page 9 of 30
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10
 clinical support specialists instructed DaVita employees to extract overfill from single-use EPO
 vials and to administer this “captured” portion of the drug to patients. In fact, Woodard alleges
 that Amgen sales representatives used visual aids to advise DaVita personnel of the profitability
 of billing the government at the regular price for this overfill. Woodard also identifies specific
 facilities where he personally counseled DaVita employees on the financial benefits of overfill
 billing, specific time frames in which these meetings occurred, and specific DaVita
 employees—identified by title—with whom he conferred. The court finds this sufficient to satisfy
 Rule 9(b)’s requirements. See Grubbs, 565 F.3d at 191-92 (holding Rule 9(b) was satisfied where
 scheme was communicated to relator by those involved in the alleged fraud and he provided details
 as to the date, place, and participants involved); In re Cessna 209 Series Aircraft Prods. Liab.
 Litig., No. 05-MD-1721-KHV, 2009 WL 2780258, at *3 n.4 (D. Kan. Sept. 1, 2009) (opining
 that relator may survive Rule 9(b) scrutiny by “alleg[ing] the individual’s employer, job title, and
 location” where he or she made a fraudulent statement); United States ex rel. Harris v. Bernad,
 275 F. Supp. 2d 1, 8 (D.D.C. 2003) (declining to dismiss government’s qui tam complaint where
 it named individual defendants, stated time period of fraud, and described the fraudulent scheme);
 Mitchell Energy Corp. v. Martin, 616 F. Supp. 924, 927-28 (S.D. Tex. 1985) (complaint that
 specified a period of time during which alleged fraud occurred, location of fraudulent conduct, and
 the parties involved satisfied Rule 9(b)).
 DaVita takes issue with the fact that Woodard identified the alleged participants in the
 overfill scheme by job title only. Case law suggests, however, that such identification is sufficient
 to state a claim under the FCA. See Zisholtz v. Suntrust Banks, Inc., No. 1:08-CV-1287-TWT,
 2009 WL 3132907, at *5 (N.D. Ga. Sept. 24, 2009) (indicating that the “who” aspect of Rule 9(b)
 Case 1:05-cv-00227-MAC Document 137 Filed 05/09/11 Page 10 of 30
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11
 may be met by identifying participants by “name, by title, or even by job description”); United
 States ex rel. Raymer v. Univ. of Chicago Hosp., No. 03-C-806, 2006 WL 516577, at *6 (N.D.
 Ill. Feb. 28, 2006) (opining that relator, who had worked regularly with defendants, “should be
 capable, at a minimum, of identifying the titles or positions of those responsible superiors and
 perhaps others” who participated in the alleged fraud); Robinson v. Northrop Corp., 149 F.R.D.
 142, 145 (N.D. Ill. 1993) (noting that when fraud is alleged against a corporation, the complaint
 must specify the “identity and/or role” of the individual employees involved).
 DaVita also asserts that Woodard’s allegations regarding the time frame of the alleged fraud
 are too general to satisfy Rule 9(b). A search of relevant case law reveals to the contrary. Indeed,
 when the alleged fraud occurs over a long period of time and consists of numerous instances of
 wrongdoing, courts have permitted relators to “plead the fraudulent scheme with particularity and
 provide representative examples of specific fraudulent acts conducted pursuant to that scheme.”
 United States ex rel. Bledsoe v. Cmty. Health Sys., Inc., 501 F.3d 493, 609-10 (6th Cir. 2007);
 United States ex rel. Bennett v. Medtronic, Inc., 747 F. Supp. 2d 745, 768 (S.D. Tex. 2010);
 United States v. Hempfling, 431 F. Supp. 2d 1069, 1076-77 (E.D. Cal. 2006) (reasoning that,
 when fraud occurs over a period of time, general allegations of the month and year of fraudulent
 activity suffice for the purpose of Rule 9(b)); United States v. NHC Healthcare Corp., 115 F.
 Supp. 2d 1149, 1151 (W.D. Mo. 2000) (“When underlying fraudulent activity is alleged to have
 occurred systematically and continuously over a period of time, it is sufficient to allege a general
 time frame of the fraud in question”). Therefore, the court concludes that DaVita’s arguments are
 without merit.
 Case 1:05-cv-00227-MAC Document 137 Filed 05/09/11 Page 11 of 30
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DaVita also asserts that reentering single-use EPO vials was permissible during the relevant time4
 frame and supports this claim with a 2002 Program Memorandum from CMS that outlinesrecommendations for reentry into single use vials. As requested by DaVita, the court will take judicialnotice of this document. See Hall v. Hodgkins, 305 F. App’x 224, 227 (5th Cir. 2008) (“[I]t is proper indeciding a 12(b)(6) motion to take judicial notice of matters of public record.”). The memorandumcondones the reentry of single-use vials under certain circumstances and, therefore, the court agrees withDaVita that “Woodard’s allegations concerning DaVita’s practice of reentering single dose vials to captureEPO overfill, without more, does not evidence fraud.” Here, however, Woodard has pled more. Indeed,he specifically alleges that the extracted overfill was pooled to create additional doses, and the 2002memorandum expressly prohibits the pooling of overfill.
 Effective January 1, 2011, the CMS promulgated a rule prohibiting providers from billing for5
 overfill administration. See Fed. Reg. 73170. The court agrees with DaVita that Woodard cannot baseallegations of billing impropriety on a newly-passed regulation that contains no indication that it appliesretroactively, as such an application would subject DaVita to increased liability for past conduct. Blaz v.Belfer, 368 F.3d 501, 503 (5th Cir. 2004) (noting presumption against retroactive legislation andrecognizing that retroactive application is impermissible where it increases a party’s liability for pastconduct). Nevertheless, as discussed infra, Woodard’s complaint adequately alleges that DaVita
 knowingly billed Medicare for costs not incurred.
 12
 2. Medicare Coverage of Overfill Administration
 DaVita next argues that Woodard fails to allege that it knowingly violated any laws when
 submitting its cost reports and EPO bills to the government because the practice of billing for and
 administering overfill was permissible during the period in question. Woodard maintains that4
 longstanding Medicare policy, recently promulgated as 75 Fed. Reg. 73170 (November 29, 2010),
 prohibits billing for costs not actually incurred—here, overfill. Additionally, Woodard avers that5
 DaVita’s administration of overfill constitutes medical care that is not “reasonable and necessary”
 and, therefore, is not eligible for government reimbursement. See 42 U.S.C. § 1395y(a)(1)(A)
 (excluding from coverage items and services that “are not reasonable and necessary for the
 diagnosis or treatment of illness or injury”).
 Medicare regulations dictate that reimbursable costs are costs “actually incurred.” 42
 U.S.C. §§ 1395x(v), 1395rr(b)(2)(B). Further, the Medicare Program Integrity Manual identifies
 Case 1:05-cv-00227-MAC Document 137 Filed 05/09/11 Page 12 of 30
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13
 “billing Medicare for costs not incurred” as a common form of fraud. MEDICARE PROGRAM
 INTEGRITY MANUAL, Chapter 4, § 4.2.1. As previously discussed, the complaint details a
 purported scheme by DaVita to extract and administer overfill, which it received free of cost, and
 to bill the government for that administration. DaVita seems to suggest that Woodard’s claim is
 legally infirm because “[n]o case supports the imposition of FCA liability for falsely certifying
 compliance with an unwritten policy, as opposed to a statute or regulation.” (emphasis in
 original). DaVita misreads Woodard’s allegations. Courts have distinguished between “factually
 false” and “legally false” FCA claims. Medtronic, Inc., 747 F. Supp. 2d at 776 (citing Mikes v.
 Straus, 274 F.3d 687, 697-98 (2d Cir. 2001)). Factually false claims incorrectly describe the
 goods or services provided or request reimbursement for goods or services never provided.
 Mikes, 274 F.3d at 697. Legally false claims “are those that falsely certify compliance with
 applicable statutes and regulations when the government conditions payment on such compliance.”
 United States ex rel. Rost v. Pfizer, Inc., 736 F. Supp. 2d 367, 374-75 (D. Mass. 2010). Here,
 Woodard alleges that DaVita submitted claims to the government that incorrectly described the
 goods provided, i.e., the claims represented overfill as an expense to DaVita when, in fact, the
 corporation had not paid for the drug. This alleges a factually false claim and, therefore, no
 certification by DaVita is required. Accordingly, Woodard’s overfill allegations regarding
 DaVita’s submission of bills for captured overfill are sufficient to state an FCA claim. See United
 States ex rel. Westmoreland v. Amgen, Inc., 738 F. Supp. 2d 267, 274 (D. Mass. 2010) (rejecting
 Case 1:05-cv-00227-MAC Document 137 Filed 05/09/11 Page 13 of 30
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The court takes judicial notice of the May 2004 and November 1997 reports of the Office of6
 Inspector General (“OIG”), which were submitted by DaVita for the proposition that “the government hasrepeatedly recognized and condoned billing for EPO overfill.” See Hall, 305 F. App’x at 227. The courtdisagrees, however, that the reports condone billing for overfill. Rather, the 1997 report merelyrecognizes that some dialysis facilities utilize overfill. Indeed, it explicitly states that its “review did notfocus on the amount of EPO actually used by facilities.” The 2004 is similarly unconvincing, as it simplymentions the existence of overfill billing. In short, the OIG reports stop far short of authorizing thepractice and do not affect the above analysis.
 14
 defendant’s argument that overfill is a reimbursable expense and holding that relator’s allegations
 stated an FCA claim based upon defendants’ improper overfill billing.) 6
 As an alternate basis of liability, Woodard claims that DaVita violated the FCA by seeking
 reimbursement for overfill administration that was not “reasonable and necessary.” See 42 U.S.C.
 § 1395y (requiring that services provided be “reasonable and necessary”). Namely, Woodard
 contends that DaVita’s reentry into single-use EPO vials to extract and pool overfill was dangerous
 to patient health and violated the drug’s labeled use. This allegation asserts a legally false theory
 of FCA liability in that Woodard avers DaVita falsely represented to the government that it
 complied with relevant healthcare laws and regulations. DaVita maintains that Woodard has not
 plausibly alleged that its use of overfill was impermissible or that it falsely certified compliance
 with the “reasonable and necessary” Medicare regulations.
 The Federal Drug Administration’s (“FDA”) approved uses and labeling of a drug is
 considered a barometer to determine whether the drug’s use is “reasonable and necessary.” See
 54 Fed. Reg. 37239-01 (1989) (“As a matter of current national Medicare policy, drugs . . .
 approved for marketing by the FDA are generally considered safe and effective for the purposes
 of meeting the ‘reasonable and necessary’ criteria . . . when used for indications specified in their
 labeling.”). As DaVita points out, however, off-label uses of a drug are not automatically
 unreasonable or unnecessary. Medtronic, 747 F. Supp. 2d at 778 (“The cases recognize that off-
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In its October 14, 2010, memorandum and order, the court rejected any attempt by Woodard to7
 base his claims on an implied certification theory of liability, which is premised on the notion thatsubmitting a claim for reimbursement in and of itself implies compliance with governing federal rules thatare a precondition to payment. United States ex rel. Steury v. Cardinal Health, Inc., 625 F.3d 262, 268(5th Cir. 2010) (internal quotations omitted). In response to the instant motion, the United States submitted
 15
 label use of a drug or medical device is distinct from a medically unnecessary use of that drug or
 device.”) (citations omitted). Indeed, the Department of Health and Human Services has theorized
 that off-label uses may be reimbursable if “the available medical and scientific information
 indicates that additional uses are appropriate and accepted in the medical community, unless the
 uses are contraindicated on a drug’s label.” 54 Fed. Reg. 37239-01 (emphasis added). Here,
 Woodard alleges that the FDA label of EPO’s 1 milliliter vial (which DaVita purportedly used
 most often) reads as follows: “Use only one dose per vial; do not reenter the vial.” Clearly,
 reentering EPO vials to capture and pool excess overfill for administration to patients, as DaVita
 purportedly did in this case, is a use contraindicated on the drug’s package insert. As such,
 Woodard sufficiently alleges that DaVita failed to comply with Medicare requirements that its
 services be “reasonable and necessary.”
 3. Certification
 Woodard also alleges that DaVita certified compliance with all applicable laws and
 regulations when submitting its bills for EPO reimbursement. DaVita avers that this general
 attestation of compliance is an insufficient basis for FCA liability. The court disagrees. Liability
 for a false certification under the FCA occurs when a defendant expressly certifies compliance
 with a statute or regulation and compliance with that statute or regulation is a precondition to
 payment from the government. United States ex rel. Marcy v. Rowan Cos., Inc., 520 F.3d 384,
 389 (5th Cir. 2008); Thompson I, 125 F.3d at 902. 7
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a Statement of Interest (#121) wherein it argued that, despite the court’s prior determination, Woodardshould be permitted to proceed on a theory of implied certification. The court declines to revisit its earlierruling on this subject. As previously noted, the Fifth Circuit has repeatedly declined to recognize impliedcertification, and the court will not do so here. Id.; Marcy, 520 F.3d at 389; United States ex rel. Gravesv. ITT Educ. Servs., Inc., 111 F. App’x 296, 297 n.2 (5th Cir. 2005); Riley, 355 F.3d at 379; Willard,336 F.3d at 382; United States ex rel. Gonzalez v. Fresenius Med. Care N. Am., 748 F. Supp. 2d 95, 112(W.D. Tex. 2010) (“The Fifth Circuit has repeatedly declined to recognize an ‘implied certification’ theoryof False Claims Act liability.”).
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 Courts within this circuit have held that a blanket statement of adherence to “all regulations
 or statutes governing participation in a [government] program” is an insufficient basis on which
 to premise FCA liability. United States ex rel. Gudur v. Deloitte Consulting LLP, 512 F. Supp.
 2d 920, 947 (S.D. Tex. 2007) (emphasis added). Nonetheless, the courts have also distinguished
 between a defendant’s certification of compliance with conditions of participation and conditions
 of payment. See Willard, 336 F.3d at 383; Thompson I, 125 F.3d at 902-03 (remanding to district
 court for a determination of whether compliance was a condition of payment); Gonzalez, 748 F.
 Supp. 2d at 111 n.23 (noting that relator failed to point the court to evidence that regulation
 compliance was a condition of payment rather than participation); Gudur, 512 F. Supp. 2d at 947
 (recognizing distinction between generally certifying compliance with requirements governing
 participation in a government program as opposed to prerequisites for payment). It is settled law
 that a claimant violates the FCA when it falsely certifies compliance with a statute or regulation
 upon which the government has conditioned payment of a claim. Thompson I, 125 F.3d at 902.
 Therefore, the relevant inquiry is whether Woodard properly alleged that compliance with the
 “reasonable and necessary” standard is a condition of Medicare reimbursement and whether
 DaVita certified its adherence to the program’s payment conditions.
 Here, Woodard alleges that DaVita certified compliance with federal, state, and local laws
 and regulations when it submitted claims for EPO reimbursement, despite its knowledge that it had
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 violated the “reasonable and necessary” requirement. Additionally, he avers that compliance with
 the “reasonable and necessary” standard is a condition of Medicare reimbursement. This is
 confirmed by 42 C.F.R. § 413.24(f)(4)(iv), which provides that adequate cost data are required
 for payment and mandates that cost reports contain a certification that the provider is “familiar
 with the laws and regulations regarding the provision of health care services” and that the services
 provided were “in compliance with such laws and regulations.” Courts have held similar
 allegations sufficient to state an FCA claim. See United States ex rel. Parato v. Unadilla Health
 Care Ctr., Inc., No. 5:07-CV-76(HL), 2010 WL 146877, at *6 (M.D. Ga. Jan. 11, 2010)
 (denying motion to dismiss where defendant attested that it complied with “all applicable
 requirements of all other federal laws, executive orders, regulations, and policies” governing grant
 program); United States ex rel. Thompson v. Columbia/HCA Healthcare Corp., 20 F. Supp. 2d
 1017, 1047 (S.D. Tex. 1998) (“Thompson II”) (holding that relator stated FCA claim where he
 asserted that defendant made explicit certifications of compliance with “relevant healthcare laws
 and regulations”); United States ex rel. Fallon v. Accudyne Corp., 880 F. Supp. 636, 638 (W.D.
 Wis. 1995) (declining to dismiss FCA claim where defendant certified that it complied with
 “applicable federal, state, and local environmental laws and regulations” and compliance was a
 condition of payment under government contract). The court is mindful that “‘[a] motion to
 dismiss under rule 12(b)(6) “is viewed with disfavor and is rarely granted.”’” Gregson v. Zurich
 Am. Ins. Co., 322 F.3d 883, 885 (5th Cir. 2003) (quoting Collins, 224 F.3d at 498 (quoting
 Kaiser Aluminum & Chem. Sales, Inc., 677 F.2d at 1050)); accord Harrington v. State Farm Fire
 & Cas. Co., 563 F.3d 141, 147 (5th Cir. 2009). At this stage of the proceeding, the question
 must be “‘whether in the light most favorable to the plaintiff and with every doubt resolved in his
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 behalf, the complaint states any valid claim for relief.’” Collins, 224 F.3d at 498 (quoting 5A
 CHARLES A. WRIGHT & ARTHUR R. MILLER, FEDERAL PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE: CIVIL 2d
 § 1357, at 332-36 (1990)); accord Lowrey v. Tex. A&M Univ. Sys., 117 F.3d 242, 247 (5th Cir.
 1997). Pursuant to this standard, the court finds that Woodard has stated a valid claim for relief.
 4. DaVita’s Scienter
 Finally, the court finds that Woodard has alleged sufficient facts to satisfy the FCA’s
 scienter requirement. The statute requires that a defendant act “knowingly,” meaning that it either
 “has actual knowledge of the information,” “acts in deliberate ignorance of the truth or falsity of
 the information,” or “acts in reckless disregard of the truth or falsity of the information.”
 § 3729(b). As previously noted, Rule 9(b) “relaxes the particularity requirement for conditions
 of the mind, such as scienter . . . .” Tuchman, 14 F.3d at 1068; accord Dorsey, 540 F.3d at 339;
 Murungi v. Tex. Guaranteed, 693 F. Supp. 2d 597, 603 (E.D. La. 2010). In short, a plaintiff may
 satisfy the FCA’s scienter requirement with general allegations, as long as he sets forth specific
 facts supporting an inference of fraud. FED. R. CIV. P. 9(b); Dorsey, 540 F.3d at 339 (quoting
 Melder, 27 F.3d at 1102). As discussed above, Woodard has alleged particular facts regarding
 DaVita’s process of capturing and administering EPO overfill to patients. Additionally, he has
 generally asserted that DaVita acted in knowing violation of § 3729. See United States ex rel.
 Branch Consultants L.L.C. v. Allstate Ins. Co., 668 F. Supp. 2d 780, 809 (E.D. La. 2009)
 (finding that relator satisfied scienter requirement with general allegations that defendant acted in
 knowing violation of statute). Accordingly, the court declines to dismiss Woodard’s overfill
 claim.
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 D. Count Three: Kickback Allegations
 The Anti-Kickback Statute (“AKS”) makes it illegal to solicit or receive any remuneration,
 including kickbacks, bribes, or rebates in return for “purchasing, leasing, ordering, or arranging
 . . . any good, facility, service, or item for which payment may be made in whole or in part under
 a Federal health care program.” 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7a(a)(7). Woodard’s complaint alleges that
 DaVita violated the FCA by falsely certifying AKS compliance when it submitted its annual
 HCFA-265 cost report to the HCFA and its bills for EPO reimbursement. Specifically, Woodard
 asserts that these submissions contained a certification of adherence to “all applicable federal,
 state, and local laws and regulations” and that this statement of compliance was a prerequisite to
 government payment. DaVita’s submissions were false, Woodard contends, because it received
 prohibited remuneration from Amgen in the form of overfill, impermissible EPO volume discounts
 and rebates, free employee training, and educational grants. DaVita seeks dismissal of Woodard’s
 kickback claim on the grounds that: (1) he failed to allege that DaVita expressly certified
 compliance with the AKS when submitting its documents or that certification was a condition of
 Medicare reimbursement and (2) his allegations lack the required specificity.
 1. Certification
 DaVita is correct that Woodard does not mention an explicit certification of AKS
 compliance by DaVita. Rather, he alleges that the government conditions reimbursement on a
 certification of adherence to “all applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations” and that
 DaVita asserted such compliance. DaVita maintains that this blanket statement is insufficient to
 state an FCA claim. Woodard counters that general attestations of compliance suffice to create
 FCA liability.
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 As discussed supra, FCA liability attaches when a defendant expressly certifies compliance
 with a statute or regulation upon which the government has conditioned payment. Marcy, 520
 F.3d at 389; Thompson I, 125 F.3d at 902. Here, Woodard alleges:
 Because DaVita falsely certified that it was in compliance with Federal, state, andlocal laws and regulations when in fact it was violating 42 U.S.C. §§ 1320a-7a & 7b,and because such certification was a condition of coverage, DaVita violated 31U.S.C. § 3729 by knowingly submitting false claims for [EPO] to the FederalGovernment.
 The court agrees with Woodard that his pleadings are sufficient to state a claim for a false
 certification of compliance with the AKS. Numerous courts have held that compliance with the
 AKS is a condition of Medicare reimbursement. McNutt ex rel. United States v. Haleyville Med.
 Supplies, Inc., 423 F.3d 1256, 1260 (11th Cir. 2005) (“[C]ompliance with the [AKS] is necessary
 for reimbursement under the Medicare program.”); United States ex rel. Schmidt v. Zimmer, Inc.,
 386 F.3d 235 (3d Cir. 2004) (stating that a “certificate of compliance with federal health care law”
 includes the AKS and is a “prerequisite to eligibility under the Medicare program”); Medtronic,
 Inc., 747 F. Supp. 2d at 783 (citing Thompson I, 125 F.3d at 902) (“[P]ayments of Medicare
 claims may be conditioned upon certification of compliance with laws and regulations, including
 the [AKS].”); United States v. Rogan, 459 F. Supp. 2d 692, 717 (N.D. Ill. 2006) (“[C]ompliance
 with the [AKS] is a condition of payment by the Medicaid program.”); United States ex rel.
 Barrett v. Columbia/HCA Healthcare Corp., 251 F. Supp. 2d 28, 32 (D.D.C. 2003) (“Courts
 have found that kickback . . . violations affect the government’s decision to pay.”); Thompson II,
 20 F. Supp. 2d at 1047 (holding that relator stated viable FCA claim based on violations of the
 AKA). Nonetheless, DaVita is correct when it asserts that not all cost reports contain an express
 certification of compliance with the AKS. See Gonzalez, 748 F. Supp. 2d at 110 (stating that
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 certain cost reports did not contain express certifications of compliance with the AKS). Here, the
 cost reports at issue are not yet in evidence and, therefore, the court cannot determine whether
 DaVita certified compliance with the AKS. In any event, however, it is unnecessary at this
 juncture for Woodard to allege that DaVita specifically attested compliance with the AKS when
 it submitted its claims. Parato, 2010 WL 146877, at *6; Thompson II, 20 F. Supp. 2d at 1047;
 Fallon, 880 F. Supp. at 638.
 The court notes that, because Woodard does not allege that DaVita expressly certified
 compliance with the AKS, the connection between the statute and the FCA in this case is
 somewhat tenuous. Nevertheless, viewing the allegations of the complaint in the light most
 favorable to Woodard, as the court must do at this stage of the proceeding, the pleadings survive
 DaVita’s Rule 12(b)(6) attack. United States ex rel. Roy v. Anthony, 914 F. Supp. 1504, 1506
 (S.D. Ohio 1994) (holding that while relator established only a tenuous connection between the
 AKS and the FCA, the “connection [was] sufficient to overcome the burden of a 12(b)(6)
 motion”). While Woodard’s allegations and proffered evidence may not suffice to withstand
 summary judgment scrutiny, that is for the court to address at a later date. Accordingly, the court
 declines to dismiss Woodard’s kickback claim on this ground.
 2. Factual Sufficiency
 DaVita also seeks dismissal of Woodard’s kickback claim pursuant to Rule 9(b)’s specificity
 requirement. Woodard maintains that his allegations are factually sufficient and contends that
 DaVita received prohibited remuneration from Amgen in the form of EPO overfill, drug discounts
 and rebates, free training, and educational grants.
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Contrary to DaVita’s assertion, this is more than what was alleged in Woodard’s Third Amended8
 Complaint. In his previous complaint, Woodard alleged only that DaVita possessed overfill; here, heasserts that DaVita purchased EPO vials offered by Amgen that contained more overfill than necessary asan inducement for DaVita to continue purchasing the drug from Amgen.
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 a. Overfill
 Woodard claims that DaVita’s receipt of overfill constituted prohibited remuneration
 “because the ‘free’ product was provided by Amgen in exchange for DaVita’s purchase of
 [EPO].” DaVita avers that EPO overfill cannot constitute prohibited remuneration because federal
 law requires overfill to be included in EPO vials. The court agrees that a bare allegation that
 DaVita received EPO vials containing overfill is insufficient to state an FCA claim, as merely
 possessing overfill is not illegal. Nonetheless, Woodard’s complaint includes more than such a
 simple allegation. Woodard claims that “Amgen provided an unnecessarily large amount of
 overfill as an inducement for the purchase of its product” and that “DaVita’s clinics almost
 exclusively purchased the single-dose vials with the larger percentage of available overfill.”8
 Courts have held similar allegations to be sufficient to state a claim under the AKS. See United
 States ex rel. Freedman v. Suarez-Hoyos, No. 8:04-CV-933-T-24-EAJ, 2011 WL 972585, at *10
 (M.D. Fla. Mar. 18, 2011) (declining to dismiss relator’s claim that dermatologist received “free”
 pathology reports from lab as an inducement for referrals); Westmoreland, 738 F. Supp. 2d at
 273-74 (holding that relator’s allegations were sufficient to state an FCA claim where he alleged
 that drug manufacturer offered excess overfill as an inducement to purchase drug and advocated
 that providers bill Medicare for “free” doses). To be clear, DaVita’s relevant conduct with regard
 to Woodard’s kickback claim is not merely obtaining EPO overfill but accepting vials containing
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Woodard’s complaint alleges that the United States Pharmacopeia recommends a .1 milliliter and9
 a .15 milliliter overfill for a labeled fill volume of 1.0 and 2.0 milliliters, respectively. Amgen allegedlydispensed EPO with a “target” fill volume of 1.168 milliliters for a single-dose vial and 2.168 millilitersfor a multidose vial.
 23
 excess EPO overfill, beyond that which was legally required, for the alleged purpose of billing9
 the government for free product and as an incentive to ensure its continued purchase of EPO from
 Amgen.
 Moreover, Woodard has supported his allegation that DaVita accepted kickbacks in the form
 of overfill with sufficient facts to sustain a Rule 9(b) challenge. As discussed above, Woodard
 identifies specific clinics where he personally spoke with DaVita employees (identified by title)
 about the use and billing of overfill to increase profits. He further alleges that it was part of
 DaVita’s business model to capture, track, and utilize overfill and supports this claim with
 statements from DaVita personnel and evidence that DaVita kept internal records of its EPO
 overfill usage. Accordingly, the court declines to dismiss Woodard’s kickback claim as it pertains
 to overfill.
 b. Discounts and Rebates
 Second, Woodard alleges that DaVita accepted kickbacks from Amgen in the form of EPO
 rebates and volume discounts. Specifically, Woodard asserts that DaVita purchased EPO for 20
 percent off the Average Wholesale Price (“AWP”) but based its charges to the government on the
 full AWP. Woodard also contends that DaVita was eligible for various other discounts equating
 to an additional 14.5 percent off the AWP. DaVita again asserts that these claims lack the
 required specificity and, thus, should be dismissed. Moreover, DaVita argues that drug discounts
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 and rebates are legal and that Woodard has failed to allege facts suggesting any impropriety by
 DaVita.
 The court first notes that Woodard’s allegations regarding DaVita’s receipt of EPO
 discounts and rebates are factually sufficient, as he cites specific clinics where he spoke to DaVita
 directors of nursing (“DON”), anemia managers, and/or clinic directors about EPO volume
 discounts. The facts Woodard discovered in these conversations are also independently
 corroborated by a New York Amgen account manager who claims that he regularly delivered five-
 figure rebate checks to DaVita management and a Gulf Coast Amgen clinical support specialist
 who negotiated contracts with dialysis centers. See United States ex rel. Schumann v. AstraZeneca
 PLC, No. 03-5423, 2010 WL 4025904, at *10 (E.D. Pa. Oct. 13, 2010) (declining to dismiss
 relator’s kickback claim where complaint included details of specific rebates, the drugs at issue,
 and the dates and identities of people attending meetings where the fraud was discussed).
 The court also rejects DaVita’s assertion that Woodard failed to allege that the discounts and
 rebates were not properly reported to the government. Under the Grubbs standard, a relator is
 not required to plead the actual contents of a false claim. 565 F.3d at 189-90. Indeed, to require
 such detail in pleading “is one small step shy of requiring production of actual documentation with
 the complaint, a level of proof not demanded to win at trial and significantly more than any federal
 pleading rule contemplates.” Id. at 190. Instead, all that is required of Woodard are factual
 allegations regarding DaVita’s scheme from which “the court may reasonably infer that false
 claims were actually submitted.” Wagemann, 2010 WL 3168087, at *5 (citing Grubbs, 565 F.3d
 at 189-90).
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 The allegations in Woodard’s complaint suffice under this standard. For example, Woodard
 cites a price history “cheat sheet” prepared by DaVita to support his claims that DaVita received
 substantial discounts on its EPO purchases. He further alleges that, despite these discounts,
 DaVita based its charges to the government on the drug’s AWP. He bolsters these allegations with
 factual details regarding the clinics at which he witnessed DaVita’s discounting practices and the
 persons with whom he spoke about the company’s billing procedures. These assertions, taken as
 true, lead to a reasonable inference that false claims were actually submitted by DaVita. See
 Abbott v. BP Exploration & Prod. Inc., No. H-09-1193, 2011 WL 923504, at *10 (S.D. Tex.
 Mar. 15, 2011) (declining to dismiss complaint that “provided specific details of an alleged chain
 of events” leading to relator’s discovery of purported fraud); United States ex rel. Davis v.
 Lockheed Martin Corp., No. 4:09-CV-645-Y, 2010 WL 4607411, at *7 (N.D. Tex. Nov. 15,
 2010) (holding that relator alleged reliable indicia of false claims where complaint pleaded
 description of disputed services and “some” details regarding defendant’s billing system); United
 States ex rel. Jamison v. McKesson Corp., No. 2:08-CV-214-SA-DAS, 2009 WL 3176168, at *6
 (N.D. Miss. Sept. 29, 2009) (finding that Grubbs standard was satisfied where the government
 excerpted quotations from defendant’s internal memoranda and referenced specific documents
 evidencing perpetuation of alleged fraud). Accordingly, the court declines to dismiss Woodard’s
 kickback claim as it pertains to DaVita’s handling of EPO discounts and rebates.
 c. Free Training
 Third, the complaint alleges that DaVita violated the AKS by accepting free anemia
 management training and support from Amgen. Woodard claims that Amgen held “education
 seminars” at local hotels where speakers instructed attendees, including DaVita personnel, to
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 utilize and administer excess EPO as well as individualized training meetings and patient chart
 reviews with DaVita nursing staff designed to increase EPO prescriptions. DaVita maintains that
 Woodard’s allegations are too general to satisfy Rule 9(b).
 Woodard’s allegations regarding Amgen’s “education seminars” remain vague. For
 example, he does not identify where such meetings occurred, apart from “at local hotels,” and
 does not specify the individuals from DaVita who were in attendance at these meetings. See
 Willard, 336 F.3d at 385 (dismissing complaint where location of alleged fraud was not
 identified); Patel v. Pac. Life Ins. Co., No. 3:08-CV-0249-B, 2009 WL 1456526, at *10 (N.D.
 Tex. May 22, 2009) (finding that a complaint that did not connect alleged fraudulent statements
 to the time and place in which they were made was deficient under Rule 9(b)); United States ex
 rel. Richardson-Eagle, Inc. v. Marsh & McLennan Co., Inc., No. Civ. A. H-05-0411, 2005 WL
 3591014, at *7 (S.D. Tex. Dec. 30, 2005) (dismissing claim under Rule 9(b) where complaint
 failed to allege where or when fraud took place); United States ex rel. King v. Alcon Labs., Inc.,
 232 F.R.D. 568, 572 (N.D. Tex. 2005) (dismissing relator’s complaint where no individuals
 involved in the alleged fraud were identified) (citing Uni*Quality, Inc. v. Infotronx, Inc., 974 F.2d
 918, 923-24 (7th Cir. 1992)). Nor does he support his allegations that Amgen financed the
 speakers’ fees, airfare, car service, hotel rooms, and meals with any specific facts or even allege
 how he has knowledge of such information. In re Fleming Cos. Inc. Sec. & Derivative Litig., No.
 503MD1530TJW, 2004 WL 5278716, at *23 (E.D. Tex. June 16, 2004) (declining to dismiss
 complaint where plaintiff provided specifics regarding how he acquired the knowledge and
 information underlying his allegations); Lam, 481 F. Supp. 2d at 688 (“Relators must, at the very
 least, set forth a factual basis for their beliefs.”); Stewart, 2002 WL 257690, at *5 (dismissing
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While a relator’s failure to meet the requirements of Rule 9(b) should not automatically result10
 in final dismissal, where he has failed to plead with particularity after being afforded numerousopportunities to do so, dismissal with prejudice is appropriate. See Willard, 336 F.3d at 387 (affirmingdistrict court’s dismissal of complaint with prejudice where relator had two previous opportunities to curepleading deficiencies); Williams, 112 F.3d at 180 (dismissing fraud claims where plaintiffs “failed in twoattempts to plead with particularity”); United States ex rel. Bonin v. Cmty. Care Ctr. of St. Martinville,LLC, No. 05-1005, 2008 WL 2113055, at *12 (W.D. La. May 16, 2008) (dismissing complaint withprejudice where relator had previously been granted leave to amend).
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 complaint where relator asserted “a blanket allegation far too general in scope). Therefore, the
 court finds that Woodard cannot base his kickback claim on allegations regarding DaVita’s
 attendance at “education seminars,” and this portion of his kickback claim is dismissed with
 prejudice.10
 Nonetheless, a portion of Woodard’s kickback allegations regarding DaVita’s receipt of free
 training is sufficiently supported by specific facts, as he alleges in great detail individualized
 meetings between Amgen clinical support specialists and sales representatives and DaVita DONs,
 during which DaVita allowed Amgen access to confidential patient charts for the purpose of
 increasing EPO dosages. Furthermore, Woodard alleges that he and other Amgen sales
 representatives provided DaVita personnel with a standard list of justifications for increased EPO
 administration in the event that the government questioned any of its reimbursement claims.
 Finally, Woodard bolsters these allegations by identifying particular DaVita clinics and specific
 time frames in which he personally conducted training meetings and chart reviews. Accordingly,
 the court declines to dismiss Woodard’s kickback claim to the extent that it is based upon
 allegations of free training. See Grubbs, 565 F.3d at 191-92 (reversing dismissal of complaint
 where it set out the particular workings of defendants’ scheme, including the date, place, and
 participants in specific instances of alleged fraud); Thompson II, 20 F. Supp. 2d at 1049 (holding
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 complaint sufficient under Rule 9(b) where relator described the basic framework and procedure
 of the fraudulent scheme and identified participants).
 d. Educational Grants
 Woodard also alleges that DaVita staff, including its medical directors, clinic
 administrators, DONs, nursing staff, and social workers, received educational grants paid by
 Amgen. Specifically, he claims that he “provided such grants so that DaVita’s medical directors,
 clinical administrators, and DONs could attend seminars with the National Kidney Foundation,
 the National Renal Administrators Association, the American Nephrology Nurses Association, and
 other professional organizations.” He does not, however, identify anyone at Amgen, save
 himself, who provided these grants or the dates of any organizational meetings, where they were
 held, or who attended. Rather, his claim rests solely on two vague allegations: first, that “in
 January 2001, [DaVita] Piedmont’s medical director expressed his appreciation for the grants, but
 . . . made a request for additional funds,” and, second, that Woodard provided an educational
 grant of “roughly $500 to a social worker at DaVita Piedmont.” Rule 9(b) simply does not allow
 Woodard to rest his pleading of a years-long scheme to accept educational grants on two
 allegations, each of which is itself significantly lacking in supporting facts. United States ex rel.
 Joshi v. St. Luke’s Hosp., Inc., 441 F.3d 552, 557 (8th Cir.), cert. denied, 549 U.S. 881 (2006)
 (“Clearly, neither this court nor Rule 9(b) requires [a relator] to allege specific details of every
 alleged fraudulent claim forming the basis of [the relator’s] complaint. However, . . . [the relator]
 must provide some representative examples of [the defendants’] alleged fraudulent conduct,
 specifying the time, place, and content of the acts and the identity of the actors.”) (emphasis in
 original); Boston Scientific Corp., 2011 WL 1231577, at *17 (noting that relator failed to allege
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The court notes that both of Woodard’s examples provide some of the aforementioned details.11
 Nevertheless, the fact remains that each is lacking in some factually significant respect under Rule 9(b).
 29
 a representative sample of defendant’s fraud); United States ex rel. Schuhardt v. Wash. Univ., 228
 F. Supp. 2d 1018, 1034 (E.D. Mo. 2002) (denying motion to dismiss where relator provided
 representative samples of fraud, “detailing the specifics of who, where, and when” fraud
 occurred).
 While some courts have found that alleging a single instance of fraudulent activity is
 sufficient to satisfy Rule 9(b), they have also required that example to satisfy the who, what,
 where, where, and how of the alleged scheme. See Stewart, 2002 WL 257690, at *4; Anitora
 Travel, Inc. v. Lapian, 677 F. Supp. 209, 214-15 (S.D.N.Y. 1988). Here, Woodard’s allegations
 lack necessary details regarding the value of the grant or funding requests, who specifically
 provided the grant, the specific events for which the funding was provided, or any facts suggesting
 how Woodard knows DaVita did not disclose its receipt of such grants to the government. Thus,11
 Woodard’s kickback claim as it pertains to educational grants is dismissed with prejudice.
 E. Count Four: Submission of False Cost Reports
 Count four alleges that DaVita submitted false cost reports to the government. Woodard
 premises portions of this claim on the overfill and kickback allegations outlined in counts one and
 three of the complaint. DaVita moves to dismiss count four to the extent it is premised on the
 allegations in count one and three, contending, once again, that Woodard’s claim lacks the
 requisite specificity. Pursuant to the above analysis, the court declines to dismiss the cost report
 claim.
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 III. Conclusion
 Based on the foregoing analysis, the court finds that Woodard has failed to plead with
 specificity the portions of his kickback claim that rely on DaVita’s receipt of education seminars
 and educational grants. Accordingly, these allegations are dismissed with prejudice. DaVita’s
 motion is DENIED as to the remaining proffered grounds for dismissal.
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